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Independent Auditor’s Report  
 

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Joint-Stock Company INK-Capital: 
 

 

Our opinion  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Joint-Stock Company INK-Capital and its subsidiaries (together – the 
“Group”) as at 31 December 2020, and the Group’s consolidated financial performance and the Group’s 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

What we have audited 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020; 

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then 
ended; 

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.  

 

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements of the Auditor’s 
Professional Ethics Code and Auditor’s Independence Rules that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the Russian Federation. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.  
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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 Note 2020 2019 
Revenue 17 136,367 172,528 
Cost of sales 18 (71,935) (83,250) 
Gross profit  64,432 89,278 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 19 (22,690) (22,863) 
Other operating expenses, net  (2,797) (1,417) 
Foreign exchange differences, net  6,830 (3,588) 
Finance costs 20 (601) (574) 
Finance income 20 1,488 2,382 
Gain/(loss) from revaluation of derivative financial instruments  3,493 (719) 
Share in the profit of the jointly controlled entities 5 15,147 22,342 
Profit before income tax   65,302 84,841 
Income tax expense 21 (8,926) (10,578) 
Profit for the year attributable to:  56,376 74,263 
- shareholders of the Company  55,407 73,693 
- non-controlling interest  969 570 
Other comprehensive income  - - 
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  56,376 74,263 
- shareholders of the Company  55,407 73,693 
- non-controlling interest  969 570 
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 Note 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 4 245,549 203,640 
Investments in jointly controlled entities 5 35,633 28,049 
Goodwill  752 752 
Intangible assets  3,388 2,538 
Exploration and evaluation assets 6 23,607 22,846 
Long-term loans issued  432  
Prepayment for own shares 7 5,796 5,980 
  315,157 263,805 
Current assets    
Inventories 8 11,330 8,506 
Trade and other receivables 9 5,209 15,057 
Advances issued to suppliers and prepaid expenses  4,249 2,813 
Income tax prepayment  71 107 
VAT and other taxes recoverable  10 4,083 2,388 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 20 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 58,961 50,053 
  83,903 78,944 
TOTAL ASSETS  399,060 342,749 
    
EQUITY    
Share capital 14 30 30 
Own shares to repurchase 7 (3,784) (5,543) 
Additional capital  2,005 2,005 
Other reserves  (175) (175) 
Retained earnings  352,662 303,625 
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS  350,738 299,942 
Non-controlling interest  2,487 1,673 
TOTAL EQUITY  353,225 301,615 
    
LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities  

  

Deferred income tax liabilities 21 6,932 6,700 
Borrowings 12 9,062 1,231 
Asset retirement and land recultivation obligation 13 2,110 1,971 
Obligation to repurchase own shares 7 9,988 8,164 
  28,092 18,066 
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 8,785 9,910 
Obligation to repurchase own shares 7 - 3,187 
Contract liabilities - advances from customers  1,713 757 
Income tax payable  69 497 
VAT and other taxes payable 16 7,080 8,323 
Borrowings 12 96 258 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  - 136 
  17,743 23,068 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   399,060 342,749 
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 Share capital 
Additional 

capital 
Own shares to 

repurchase 
Other 

reserves 
Retained 
earnings 

Equity 
attributable to 

shareholders  

Non-
controlling 

interest Total equity 
Balance at 1 January 2019 30 2,005 (5,543) (175) 242,976 239,293 1,163 240,456 
Comprehensive income - - - - 73,693 73,693 570 74,263 
Dividends accrued - - - - (13 044) (13 044) (60) (13 104) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 30 2,005 (5,543) (175) 303,625 299,942 1,673 301,615 
Comprehensive income - - - - 55,407 55,407 969 56,376 
Dividends accrued - - - - (6,764) (6,764) (155) (6,919) 
Purchase of own shares from EBRD (Note 7) - - 1,759 - 1,963 3,722 - 3,722 
Modification of the agreement with GSI to 
repurchase own shares (Note 7) - - - - (1,569) (1,569) - (1,569) 
Balance at 31 December 2020 30 2,005 (3,784) (175) 352,662 352,738 2,487 353,225 
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  2020 2019 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Profit before income tax   65,302 84,841 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  16,394 13,419 
Share in the profit of the jointly controlled entities  (15,147) (22,342) 
Finance income  (1,488) (2,382) 
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (6,126) 2,993 
Other non-cash income and expense, net  1,200 798 
Operating cash flows before working capital changes  60,135 77,327 
Changes in working capital    
Increase in inventories  (2,914) (2,277) 
Decrease in trade and other receivables, advances issued to suppliers 
and taxes recoverable  6,547 11,252 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables, advances received 
from customers and taxes payable  (1,412) 2,287 
Income tax paid  (9,313) (9,901) 
Interest received on deposits  1,131 2,176 
Interest paid on borrowings  (493) - 
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   53,681 80,864 
    
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (54,116) (54,384) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 127 
Purchase of intangible assets  (319) (191) 
Repurchase transactions  - (7,265) 
Loans issued to related parties  (4,844) - 
Repayments of loans issued to related parties  4,412 - 
Proceeds from jointly controlled entities  7,351 14,917 
Investments in jointly controlled entities  - (8) 
Geological survey and development costs  (5,502) (8,171) 
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (53,018) (54,975) 
    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from borrowings  12,623 1,057 
Repayment of borrowings  (4,819) (428) 
Prepayment for own shares to repurchase  (301) (713) 
Dividends paid  (7,158) (13,104) 
NET CASH RECEIVED FROM / (USED IN) FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES  345 (13,188) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1 008 12,701 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  50,053 41,383 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  58,961 50,053 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  7,900 (4,031) 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Joint-Stock Company INK-Capital (hereinafter – the Company) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter jointly 
referred to as the Group) are involved in exploration and development of oil, gas and condensate fields 
and oil production in the Irkutsk Region, Krasnoyarsk region and the Republic of Sakha (Yakutia) in 
Russian Federation. 

The Company was incorporated in March 2008. At 31 December 2020 and 2019, LLC Prior was the 
Group`s immediate parent company. The Group is ultimately controlled by a major beneficiary, Nikolay 
Buynov, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company.  

The Company’s registered address is: 4, Bolshoy Liteinyi Prospekt, Irkutsk, 664007, Russian Federation. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) under the historical cost convention, as modified by the initial recognition 
of financial instruments based on fair value. In absence of special IFRS guidance for oil and gas 
production companies the Group has developed the accounting policies in accordance with other 
accounting and reporting principles adopted for oil and gas producing companies (mainly, US GAAP) in 
so far they do not in conflict with IFRS principles. The preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements involves the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. It also requires 
management to exercise judgement in the process of applying Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a high degree of judgement, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 

The Group maintains its accounting records in Russian Roubles (“RR”) and prepares its statutory 
financial statements in accordance with the Federal Law of the Russian Federation “On Accounting” 
(RAR). These consolidated financial statements are based on the statutory accounting records, with 
adjustments and reclassifications for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance with IFRS. 

Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations  

In 2020, the Group adopted all IFRS, amendments and interpretations which are effective 1 January 2020 
and relevant to its operations. None of them had material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16 issued on 28 May 2020 and effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. The amendment provides lessees with relief in the 
form of an optional exemption from assessing whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease 
modification. Lessees can elect to account for rent concessions in the same way as if they were not lease 
modifications. The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence 
of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met: the change in lease 
payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the 
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; any reduction in lease payments affects only 
payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions 
of the lease.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Other new standards and pronouncements. The following other new standards and pronouncements 
which became effective from 1 January 2020 did not have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements: 

− Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (issued on 29 March 2018 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 

− Definition of a business – Amendments to IFRS 3 (issued on 22 October 2018 and effective for 
acquisitions from the beginning of annual reporting period that starts on or after 1 January 2020). 

− Definition of materiality – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (issued on 31 October 2018 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 

− Interest rate benchmark reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (issued on 
26 September 2019 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020).  

Consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are those investees, including structured entities, that the 
Group controls because the Group (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investees that 
significantly affect their returns, (ii) has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investees, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor’s 
returns. The existence and effect of substantive rights, including substantive potential voting rights, are 
considered when assessing whether the Group has power over another entity. For a right to be 
substantive, the holder must have practical ability to exercise that right when decisions about the direction 
of the relevant activities of the investee need to be made. The Group may have power over an investee 
even when it holds less than majority of voting power in an investee. 

In such a case, the Group assesses the size of its voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of 
holdings of the other vote holders to determine if it has de-facto power over the investee. Protective rights 
of other investors, such as those that relate to fundamental changes of investee’s activities or apply only 
in exceptional circumstances, do not prevent the Group from controlling an investee. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and are 
deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.  

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries other than 
those acquired from parties under common control. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 

The Group measures non-controlling interest that represents present ownership interest and entitles the 
holder to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation on a transaction by transaction 
basis, either at: (a) fair value, or (b) the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of net assets of the 
acquiree. Non-controlling interests that are not present ownership interests are measured at fair value.  

Goodwill is measured by deducting the net assets of the acquiree from the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred for the acquiree, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree and fair value of an 
interest in the acquiree held immediately before the acquisition date. Any negative amount (“negative 
goodwill” or a “bargain purchase”) is recognised in profit or loss, after management reassesses whether it 
identified all the assets acquired and all the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed and reviews 
appropriateness of their measurement. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

The consideration transferred for the acquiree is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity 
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, including fair value of assets or liabilities from 
contingent consideration arrangements but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal, 
valuation and similar professional services. Transaction costs related to the acquisition and incurred for 
issuing equity instruments are deducted from equity; transaction costs incurred for issuing debt as part of 
the business combination are deducted from the carrying amount of the debt and all other transaction 
costs associated with the acquisition are expensed. 

The consideration transferred for the acquiree is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity 
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, including fair value of assets or liabilities from 
contingent consideration arrangements but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal, 
valuation and similar professional services. Transaction costs related to the acquisition and incurred for 
issuing equity instruments are deducted from equity; transaction costs incurred for issuing debt as part of 
the business combination are deducted from the carrying amount of the debt and all other transaction 
costs associated with the acquisition are expensed. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Company and 
all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies. 

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to 
interests, which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company. Non-controlling interest forms a 
separate component of the Group’s equity. 

Investments in jointly controlled entities. Jointly controlled entities are those entities over activities of 
which the Group has joint control. Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control over an economic activity, and it exists only when the strategic financial and operating 
decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control (the 
venturers). The carrying value of jointly controlled entities includes goodwill identified on acquisition 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The Group’s share in the post-acquisition profits or losses of 
jointly controlled entities is recorded in profit or loss for the year as share of jointly controlled entities' 
financial result. The Group’s share in post-acquisition other comprehensive income of jointly controlled 
entities is recognised in the Group’s other comprehensive income. 

When the Group’s share of losses in jointly controlled entities equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

Disposals of subsidiaries or joint ventures. When the Group ceases to have control or significant 
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, 
with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture 
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
respect of that entity, are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate. 

Foreign currency translation. The functional currency of each of the Group’s consolidated entities is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The functional currency of 
the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s presentation currency is the national currency of the 
Russian Federation, Russian Roubles (“RR”). 

Monetary assets and liabilities of the Groups' entities denominated in foreign currency at 31 
December 2020 and 2019 are translated into Russian Roubles at the official exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period.  

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions and from 
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency into Russian roubles at 
the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss as foreign exchange differences.  

The official exchange rate of the US dollar against the Russian rouble established by Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation amounted to 73.88 roubles for one US dollar and 61.91 roubles for one US dollar as at 
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, respectively. The average exchange rate of the US dollar 
against the Russian rouble amounted to 72.15 roubles for one US dollar in 2020 and 64.73 roubles for one 
US dollar in 2019. 

Exploration and oil and gas production expenditure. Oil and gas exploration and production activities 
are accounted for using the successful efforts method, whereby costs of acquiring unproved and proved 
oil and gas property as well as costs of drilling and infrastructure development of productive wells, 
including dry holes, and related production facilities are capitalized. Exploration costs, including 
geological and geophysical expenses and costs of carrying and retaining undeveloped properties, are 
expensed as incurred. Cost of drilling exploratory wells where oil and gas reserves have been found are 
capitalized pending determination of whether proved reserves have been found. If no proved reserves are 
discovered, the cost of exploratory wells is expensed. In an area requiring a major capital expenditure 
before production can begin, an exploratory well is recognised within assets, if sufficient reserves are 
discovered to justify its completion as a production well, and additional exploration drilling is underway 
or firmly planned. The Group does not capitalize costs of other exploratory wells for more than one year, 
unless proved reserves are found. 

Asset retirement and land recultivation obligations. Estimated costs of dismantling an item of property, 
plant and equipment (asset retirement obligations) are included in cost of the item at the acquisition date. 
Changes in the asset retirement and land recultivation obligations resulting from the passage of time are 
reflected in the profit or loss each period under finance costs. 

Other changes in the provision relating to a change in the discount rate applied, in the expected pattern of 
settlement of the obligation or in the estimated amount of the obligation are treated as a change in 
accounting estimate in the period of the change. The effects of such changes are added to, or deducted 
from, the carrying amount of the related asset. 

Provision for cut down forest areas restoration. The obligation to restore cut down forest areas is 
recognized in accordance with the amendments to the Forest code of the Russian Federation that came 
into force on 1 January 2019. Starting from this date, the forest cut down by the Group is subject to 
restoration within one year from the date of completion of forest cutting as required by a project of forest 
restoration or forest cultivation in accordance with procedures established by the Government of Russian 
Federation. The amount of the provision is calculated as a product of forest areas cut down as of the  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

reporting date and the average cost of the forest restoration in the respective area on the territory of the 
Russian Federation. Discounting is not applied for the calculation of the provision due to its short-term  
nature. Changes in the provision related to changes in the expected cost of restoration or the estimated 
area are considered as changes in the accounting estimates in the reporting period. As of 31 December 
2020, the provision for restoration of cut down forest areas amounted to RR’mln 1,127 (31 December 
2019: RR’mln 700) and was recognized within other payables (Note 15). 

Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment, where required.  

Costs of minor repairs and day-to-day maintenance are expensed when incurred. Costs of replacing major 
parts or components of property, plant and equipment are capitalised and the replaced part is retired. 

The cost of self-constructed assets includes direct cost of materials, labour cost, a proportionate share of 
depreciation of the assets used in construction and appropriate portion of the Group’s overheads.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined as a difference between proceeds and the carrying amount 
and are recognised in profit or loss for the year. 

Impairment of property plant and equipment, exploration and evaluation assets. At the end of each 
reporting period management assess whether there is any indication of impairment of property, plant and 
equipment or exploration and evaluation assets. If any such indication exists, management estimates the 
recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is 
recognized in consolidated profit or loss for the year. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior 
years is reversed, where appropriate, if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell. 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Amortisation of acquisition cost of rights to explore and 
develop oil and gas fields and costs to develop proved oil and gas reserves is accrued using the units-of-
production method over proved reserves and proved developed reserves, respectively (Note 3). Proved 
reserves and proved developed reserves were estimated by an independent appraiser in accordance with 
criteria adopted by PRMS. Amortisation is not accrued on acquisition cost of rights to explore and 
develop unproved oil and gas reserves. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of property, plant and equipment is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives:  

 Useful lives in years 
Buildings and structures 3 – 30 
Plant and equipment 2 – 30 
Other assets 3 – 10 

Financial instruments – key measurement terms. Depending on their classification financial instruments 
are carried at fair value or amortised cost, as described below. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The best evidence of fair value is the price 
in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with 
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted 
price for the individual asset or liability and the number of instruments held by the entity. This is the case 
even if a market’s normal daily trading volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing 
orders to sell the position in a single transaction might affect the quoted price.  

A portfolio of financial derivatives or other financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active 
market is measured at the fair value of a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of 
the price that would be received to sell a net long position (i.e. an asset) for a particular risk exposure or 
paid to transfer a net short position (i.e. a liability) for a particular risk exposure in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. This is applicable for assets carried at fair value on 
a recurring basis if the Group (a) manages the group of financial assets and financial liabilities on the 
basis of the entity’s net exposure to a particular market risk (or risks) or to the credit risk of a particular 
counterparty in accordance with the entity’s documented risk management or investment strategy; (b) it 
provides information on that basis about the group of assets and liabilities to the entity’s key management 
personnel; and (c) the market risks, including duration of the entity’s exposure to a particular market risk 
(or risks) arising from the financial assets and financial liabilities is substantially the same. 

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on recent arm’s length 
transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees are used to measure fair value of certain 
financial instruments for which external market pricing information is not available. Fair value 
measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are measurements 
at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two 
measurements are valuation techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements 
are valuations not based on solely observable market data (that is, the measurement requires significant 
unobservable inputs).  

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal 
of a financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction 
had not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees 
acting as selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities 
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, 
financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.  

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recognition less any 
principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any write-down for incurred 
impairment losses. Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition 
and of any premium or discount to maturity amount using the effective interest method. Accrued interest 
income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised discount or premium 
(including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying 
values of related items in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding 
future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable 
interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or discount, which reflects the 
credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market 
rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present 
value calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate. For assets that are purchased or originated credit impaired (“POCI”) at initial 
recognition, the effective interest rate is adjusted for credit risk, i.e. it is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows on initial recognition instead of contractual payments.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Initial recognition of financial instruments. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”) are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best 
evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference 
between fair value and transaction price, which can be evidenced by other observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique, whose inputs include only data from 
observable markets. After the initial recognition, an expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance is recognised for 
financial assets measured at amortized cost (“AC”) and investments in debt instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), resulting in an immediate accounting loss. 

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the period established by regulation or 
market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date on which 
the Group commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the entity becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement – measurement categories. The Group 
classifies financial assets in the following measurement categories: FVTPL, FVOCI and AC. The 
classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Group’s business model 
for managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.  

Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement – business model. The business model 
reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows – whether the Group’s objective is: 
(i) solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets (“hold to collect contractual cash flows”), or (ii) 
to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows arising from the sale of assets (“hold to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell”) or, if neither of (i) and (ii) is applicable, the financial assets are classified as 
part of “other” business model and measured at FVTPL.  

Business model is determined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based on all relevant evidence about 
the activities that the Group undertakes to achieve the objective set out for the portfolio available at the date of 
the assessment. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model include the purpose and 
composition of a portfolio, past experience on how the cash flows for the respective assets were collected, how 
risks are assessed and managed, how the assets’ performance is assessed and how managers are compensated. 

Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement – cash flow characteristics. Where the 
business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to hold contractual cash flows and 
sell, the Group assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
(“SPPI”). Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are consistent with the SPPI feature. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest 
includes only consideration for credit risk, time value of money, other basic lending risks and profit 
margin.  

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic 
lending arrangement, the financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. The SPPI assessment is 
performed on initial recognition of an asset and it is not subsequently reassessed.  

Financial assets – reclassification. Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model 
for managing the portfolio as a whole changes. The reclassification has a prospective effect and takes 
place from the beginning of the first reporting period that follows after the change in the business model. 
The Group did not change its business model during the current and comparative reporting periods and 
did not make any reclassifications. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial assets impairment – credit loss allowance for ECL. The Group assesses, on a forward-looking 
basis, the ECL for debt instruments measured at AC and FVOCI and for the exposures arising from loan 
commitments and financial guarantee contracts, for contract assets. The Group measures ECL and 
recognises net impairment losses on financial and contract assets at each reporting date. The measurement 
of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range 
of possible outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is 
available without undue cost and effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future conditions. 

Debt instruments measured at AC and contract assets are presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position net of the allowance for ECL. For loan commitments and financial guarantees, a 
separate  

provision for ECL is recognised as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. For debt 
instruments at FVOCI, changes in amortised cost, net of allowance for ECL, are recognised in profit or 
loss and other changes in carrying value are recognised in OCI as gains less losses on debt instruments at 
FVOCI.  

The Group applies a three-stage model for impairment, based on changes in credit quality since initial 
recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 
1. Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL 
that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until contractual maturity, if shorter 
(“12 Months ECL”). If the Group identifies a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial 
recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis, 
that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any (“Lifetime ECL”). If 
the Group determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its 
ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL. For financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired 
(“POCI Assets”), the ECL is always measured as a Lifetime ECL. 

Financial assets – write-off. Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Group 
exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. The write-off represents a derecognition event. The Group may write-off financial assets that 
are still subject to enforcement activity when the Group seeks to recover amounts that are contractually 
due, however, there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments are carried at their fair value. All 
derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is 
negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are included in profit or loss for the year. 
The Group does not apply hedge accounting.  

Financial assets – derecognition. The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are 
redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expire or (b) the Group has transferred the 
rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement 
whilst (i) also transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither 
transferring nor retaining substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership but not retaining control. 
Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to 
an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial assets – modification. The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the 
contractual terms of the financial assets. The Group assesses whether the modification of contractual cash 
flows is substantial considering, among other, the following factors: any new contractual terms that 
substantially affect the risk profile of the asset (eg profit share or equity-based return), significant change 
in interest rate, change in the currency denomination, new collateral or credit enhancement that 
significantly affects the credit risk associated with the asset or a significant extension of a loan when the 
borrower is not in financial difficulties. 

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and 
the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date of 
renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation 
purposes, including determining whether a SICR has occurred. The Group also assesses whether the new 
loan or debt instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any difference between the carrying amount of the 
original asset derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or 
loss, unless the substance of the difference is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.In a situation 
where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to make the 
originally agreed payments, the Group compares the original and revised expected cash flows to assets 
whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual 
modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from 
the original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Group recalculates the gross 
carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate 
(or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for POCI financial assets), and recognises a modification gain or 
loss in profit or loss.  

Financial liabilities – measurement categories. Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently 
measured at AC, except for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives, 
financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised 
by an acquirer in a business combination and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial 
recognition and (ii) financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments. 

Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL. The Group may designate certain liabilities at FVTPL at 
initial recognition. Gains and losses on such liabilities are presented in profit or loss except for the 
amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability 
(determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market 
risk), which is recorded in OCI and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. This is unless such a 
presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses 
attributable to changes in credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities – derecognition. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished 
(i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). 

An exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different 
terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms and conditions of existing financial liabilities, are 
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows 
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original 
effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash 
flows of the original financial liability. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes 
in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in loan 
covenants are also considered. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted 
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the 
extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or 
fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the 
modified liability. 

Modifications of liabilities that do not result in extinguishment are accounted for as a change in estimate 
using a cumulative catch up method, with any gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, unless the 
economic substance of the difference in carrying values is attributed to a capital transaction with owners. 

Offsetting financial instruments. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in 
the statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts, and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. Such a right of set off (a) must not be contingent on a future event and (b) must 
be legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances: (i) in the normal course of business, (ii) in 
the event of default and (iii) in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy. 

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

Advances. Advances are carried at cost less provision for impairment. Advances are classified as non-
current when the goods or services relating to the advance are expected to be obtained after one year, or 
when the advance relates to an asset, which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial 
recognition. Advances to acquire assets are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset once the Group 
has obtained control of the asset and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset 
will flow to the Group. Other advances are written off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating 
to the advances are received. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to an 
advance will not be received, the carrying amount of the advance is written down accordingly and a 
corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss of the current period.  

Inventories. Inventories are recognised at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories is 
determined on the weighted average basis. Cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw 
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads, but excludes borrowing 
costs. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the cost of 
completion and selling expenses. 

Share capital. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair 
value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in 
equity. 

Dividends. Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity in the period in which they are 
declared and approved. Any dividends declared after the reporting period and before the consolidated 
financial statements are authorised for issue are disclosed in the subsequent events note. The statutory 
accounting reports of the Company are the basis for profit distribution and other appropriations. Russian 
legislation identifies the basis of distribution as the current year net profit. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Trade and other payables. Trade and other payables are accrued when the counterparty performs its 
obligations under the contract and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings. Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are 
subsequently carried at AC using the effective interest method.  

Capitalisation of borrowing costs. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of assets that necessarily take a substantial time to get ready for intended use or sale (qualifying 
assets) are capitalised as part of the costs of those assets. 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the date when the assets are substantially ready for their 
use or sale. The Group capitalises borrowing costs that could have been avoided if it had not made capital 
expenditure on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs capitalised are calculated at the Group’s average funding 
cost (the weighted average interest on borrowings raised for the qualifying assets), except to the extent that 
funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Where this occurs, actual 
borrowing costs incurred less any investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings are 
capitalised. 

Own shares to repurchase. Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase the Company’s equity 
instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs, net of income 
taxes, is deducted from the equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders until the equity instruments 
are reissued, disposed of or cancelled. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any 
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related 
income tax effects, are included in equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders. 

Current and deferred income taxes. Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. The income tax charge comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in profit or loss 
for the year, except if it is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity because it 
relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a different period, in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. 

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to, or recovered from, the taxation authorities in respect of 
taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxable profits or losses are based on estimates 
if the consolidated financial statements are authorised prior to filing relevant tax returns. Taxes other than 
on income are recorded within operating expenses. 

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not 
recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit. Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end 
of the reporting period, which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will 
reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised. 

The Group controls the reversal of temporary differences relating to taxes chargeable on dividends from 
subsidiaries or on gains upon their disposal. The Group does not recognise deferred tax liabilities on such 
temporary differences except to the extent that management expects the temporary differences to reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Value added tax. Output value added tax related to sales is payable to tax authorities on the earlier of 
(a) collection of receivables from customers or (b) delivery of goods or services to customers. 

Input VAT is generally recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax 
legislation permits the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and purchases, which have 
not been settled at the reporting date, is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position on a 
gross basis and disclosed separately as a current asset or a current liability, except for VAT that relates to 
the non-current part of the restructured liabilities and is recognised within non-current assets.  

Where a provision has been made for expected credit losses of receivables, impairment loss is recorded 
for the gross amount of the debtor, including VAT.  

Provisions for liabilities and charges. Provisions for liabilities and charges are recognised when the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be 
made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the probability that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
is remote. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. Provisions are revalued at each reporting date with changes posted to profit or loss as operating 
expenses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of costs, which are expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. 

The increase in the provision over time is treated as finance expense. 

Employee benefits. Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social 
insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health 
services and kindergarten services) are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered 
by the employees o the Group. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to make pension or 
similar benefit payments beyond the social contribution. 

Revenue recognition. Revenue is income arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary activities. 
Revenue is recognised in the amount of transaction price. Transaction price is the amount of 
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring control over 
promised goods or services to a customer, excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised net of value added taxes. 

Revenue from the sales is recognised when control of the good has transferred, i.e. when the crude oil is 
delivered to the customer customer in accordance with the contract terms, the price is fixed or 
determinable and when ownership rights has been transferred. 

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration 
is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies described in Note 2 management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Estimates and judgements are based on management’s 
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are continually revised. Any changes in the accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which they arise, if these changes have impact only on the results of that 
period or in the period in which they arise and in future periods, if these changes have impact on the 
results of the current and future periods. 

The most significant areas which require management’s estimates and assumptions include: going 
concern, taxation, useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment, transactions with 
own shares, environmental obligations and fair value of financial instruments. 

Going concern. Management prepared these consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. 
In making this judgement management considered the Group’s financial position, current intentions, 
profitability of operations and access to financial resources, and analysed the impact of the macro-
economic developments on the operations of the Group. 

Taxation. The Group has income tax liability and other taxes payable. Significant judgement is required 
in determining a provision for income tax paid by the Group due to the complexity of the Russian 
legislative framework. There are a lot of transactions and settlements for which the ultimate tax liability 
cannot be reliably determined. The Group recognises tax liabilities that may arise as a result of tax audits 
based on the estimates of potential additional taxes. Where the final tax outcome of various tax disputes 
differs from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will have an impact on current 
income tax charge and income tax provisions in the period in which such difference is identified. 

Useful lives of fields. When determining the useful life of a field, assumptions that are valid at the time of 
assessment may change if new information is available. Factors that can impact the useful life of a field 
include: 

− changes in proved and probable oil and gas reserves; 

− the difference between actual oil and gas prices and their estimates used in the assessment of oil 
and gas reserves; 

− occurrence of unexpected circumstances at oil and gas fields; and  

− changes in capital expenditures, operating costs, costs of refinery and repair and recovery activities, 
interest rates and foreign exchange rates that can have a negative impact on economic efficiency of 
oil and gas reserves development. 

If any of the above factors changes, useful lives of producing equipment and its current value may 
change. 

For the purposes of depletion estimation of oil and gas assets, the Group calculated depletion rate as 
follows: 

− for fields that are being prepared for commercial production, depletion rate is calculated based on 
total proved reserves of those fields; 

− for fields which are at the production stage depletion rate is calculated based on proved developed 
reserves of those fields. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

In case the proved developed reserves estimates differ by 10% from management's current estimates, the 
impact on the depreciation (depletion) would be as follows: with all the other variables held constant, a 
10% increase of the proved developed reserves estimate would cause decrease of oil and gas assets 
depreciation (depletion) charge for the year 2020 by RR’mln 1,128 (2019: by RR’mln 1,019) or, with all 
the other variables held constant, a 10% decrease of the proved developed reserves estimate would 
increase depreciation (depletion) charge of oil and gas assets for the year 2020 by RR’mln 1,259 (2019: 
by RR’mln 1,109). 

In addition, information about the most critical judgements made in applying the accounting policies and 
that had the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is 
presented in the following notes: 

Note 5 – Investments in jointly controlled entities; 

Note 7 – Transactions with own equity instruments; 

Note 23 – Financial risk management: fair value of financial instruments. 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Oil 

properties 
Gas 

properties 

Buildings 
and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 
Other 
assets 

Construction 
in progress Total 

Cost        
At 1 January 2019  81,331 5,750 12,300 22,032 3,956 85,741 211,110 
Additions - - - - - 59,087 59,087 
Disposals (209) - (45) (272) (30) (31) (587) 
Commissioning 13,331 9,790 3,592 3,773 1,289 (31,775) - 
At 31 December 2019 94,453 15,540 15,847 25,533 5,215 113,022 269,610 
Additions - - - - - 59,484 59,484 
Disposals (439) - (36) (288) (39) (1,997) (2,799) 
Commissioning 11,781 112 4,541 2,057 932 (19,423) - 
Transfer from 
exploration and 
evaluation assets 797 - 849 - - 2,409 4,055 
At 31 December 2020  106,592 15,652 21,201 27,302 6,108 153,495 330,350 
Accumulated 
depreciation         
At 1 January 2019  32,615 409 2,836 11,756 1,268 - 48,884 
Charge for the year 11,120 783 1,617 3,213 705 - 17,438 
Disposals (72) - (17) (242) (21) - (352) 
At 31 December 2019 43,663 1,192 4,436 14,727 1,952 - 65,970 
Charge for the year 13,261 562 1,886 2,798 778 - 19,285 
Disposals (119) - (25) (281) (29) - (454) 
At 31 December 2020 56,805 1,754 6,297 17,244 2,701 - 84,801 
Net carrying amount        
At 31 December 2019 50,790 14,348 11,411 10,806 3,263 113,022 203,640 
At 31 December 2020 49,787 13,898 14,904 10,058 3,407 153,495 245,549 
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

At 31 December 2020, the Group didn’t pledge any property, plant and equipment. At 31 December 
2019, property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of RR’mln 1,158 were pledged as collateral 
for borrowings received by the Group (Note 12). 

The Group did not perform impairment test of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2020 and 
2019 as there were no impairment indicators as at these dates. 

5. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

The table below summarises the movements in the carrying amount of the Group’s investments in jointly 
controlled entities: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
JSC INK-Zapad 32 823 25,216 
JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk 2 810 2,833 
Total 35 633 28,049 

The table below presents the Group’s ownership in the jointly controlled entities: 

   
Ownership interest (%) 

in share capital 

Name Country Nature of operations 
31 December 

 2020 
31 December 

 2019 

JSC INK-Zapad Russia 

Exploration and development of the 
Western-Yaraktinsky and Bolshetirsky 
licence blocks 51% 51% 

JSC INK-
Krasnoyarsk Russia 

Exploration and development of the licence 
blocks located in Krasnoyarsk region 99.9% 99.9% 

In 2009, the Group and Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation (JOGMEC) established JSC 
INK-Zapad, a jointly controlled entity, for the purpose of exploration and development of West 
Yaraktinsky and Bolshetirsky licence blocks located in the Irkutsk region. The Group appoints three of 
the five members of the Board of Directors in JSC INK-Zapad. Most decisions are made at the Board 
meetings in JSC INK-Zapad by resolution approved unanimously by all Board members. Thus, 
ownership of more than 50% of the voting shares in JSC INK-Zapad does not constitute control for the 
Group. 

In 2017, the Group and Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation (JOGMEC) established JSC 
INK-Krasnoyarsk, a jointly controlled entity, for the purpose of exploration and development of the 
Laushkardinsky, Mundukshinsky, Tamyshsky, Yurachensky and Nizhnemadashensky licence blocks 
located in the Krasnoyarsk region. The Group appoints three of the five members of the Board of 
Directors in JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk. Most decisions are made at the Board meetings in JSC INK-
Krasnoyarsk by resolution approved unanimously by all Board members. Thus, the majority of the voting 
shares of JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk at 31 December 2019 does not constitute control for the Group. In April 
2021 an Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting of JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk decided to increase the 
share capital of JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk, which will lead to the decrease of the Group’s share in JSC INK-
Krasnoyarsk  without change of joint control..  
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5. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONTINUED) 

The table below presents the information about change in carrying amount of the investments in jointly 
controlled entities:  

 2020 2019 
Balance at the beginning of the year 28,049 20,616 
Investments in JSC INK-Zapad - 8 
Share in the profit/loss of the jointly controlled entities 15,147 22,342 
Dividends accrued from JSC INK-Zapad (7,563) (14,917) 
Balance at the end of the year 35,633 28,049 

The table below summarises financial information of JSC INK-Zapad as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. 
The information presented below is included into standalone financial statements of this jointly controlled 
entity prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

Statement of financial position 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Cash and cash equivalents 22,699 12,456 
Other current assets 8,964 10,075 
Non-current assets 43,410 35,618 
Current financial liabilities 1,961 1,996 
Other current liabilities 1,671 1,908 
Other non-current financial liabilities 1,607 1,052 
Net assets  69,834 53,193 
 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 2020 2019 
Revenue 50,814 81,392 
Cost of sales (11,492) (17,963) 
General and administrative expenses (7,549) (9,103) 
Finance income 249 368 
Other incomes and losses 3,708 (2,517) 
Total income tax expense  (5,644) (8,112) 
Profit for the year 30,086 44,065 

The table below summarises financial information of JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk as at 31 December 2020 and 
2019. 

Statement of financial position 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Exploration and evaluation assets 4,022 3,269 
Cash and cash equivalents 868 1,335 
Other assets 1,081 535 
Other current liabilities 320 190 
Net assets 5,624 4,949 

In accordance with the shareholders agreement between JOGMEC and the OOO Irkursk Oil Company (the 
subsidiary of the Company), JOGMEC shall reimburse to the OOO Irkursk Oil Company the cost of 
licences for the licence blocks listed above by means of a contribution to JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk. In order 
to fulfil this commitment, in December 2017 JOGMEC made a cash contribution to JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk. 
Thus, as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents of JSC INK-Krasnoyarsk 
include cash balances attributable to the LLC Irkutsk Oil Company in the amounts of RR'mln 805 and 
RR'mln 1,281, respectively. 
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS  

 
Tangible 

exploration assets 
Intangible 

exploration assets Total 
Net carrying amount    
At 1 January 2019 9,489 5,186 14,675 
Additions 5,700 2,731 8,431 
Disposals (260) - (260) 
At 31 December 2019 14,929 7,917 22,846 
Additions 
Disposals 

2,925 
(95) 

2,577 
(60) 

5,502 
(155) 

Transfer of exploration and evaluationl assets to 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (4,055) (531) (4,586) 

At 31 December 2020 13,704 9,903 23,607 

The increase in tangible exploration assets additions in 2020 is mainly caused by the extended drilling 
works (mainly related to exploitation wells) on Kiyskiy and Verkhnenepsky oil fields.  

In the beginning of 2020, all arrangements for confirmation of commercial viability of extraction of 
hydrocarbons on Verkhnetirskoe oilfield were completed. Thus, in 2020 tangible exploration assets and 
intangible exploration assets related to this oilfield were reclassified to the property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets respectively.  

7. TRANSACTIONS WITH OWN SHARES  

Transaction with Goldman Sachs International 

Back to August 2013, OOO Irkutsk Oil Company (a subsidiary of the Company) and Goldman Sachs 
International (GSI) entered into a purchase and sale agreement for 3.75% of the Company’s shares. Under 
this agreement, the Group was obliged to purchase the above shares from GSI in five years from the date 
of this agreement. The terms of the agreement provide for a partial prepayment for the shares.  

In September 2018, OOO Irkutsk Oil Company and GSI signed an amendment to the purchase and sale 
agreement for 3.75% of the Company’s shares, which postponed the execution date to September 2023.  

In November 2020, OOO Irkutsk Oil Company and GSI signed another amendment to the purchase and 
sale agreement for 3.75% of the Company’s shares, with consideration of aforementioned addendum 
dated September 2018, which postponed the execution date to September 2026.  

Both additional agreements envisage some refund of the dividends paid by the Company to GSI and thus 
those dividends were treated as a cash collateral of the Group’s obligation to repurchase own equity 
instruments and were accounted for within prepayment for own shares. However, in accordance with the 
additional agreement of November 2020 and the separate agreement between OOO Irkutsk Oil Company 
and GSI, certain amount of dividends paid by the Company to GSI in 2018 and 2019 totaling RR’mln 
1,569 was released from further refund to the Group. As a result, this amount was excluded from 
prepayment for own shares and recognized directly in the consolidated statement of changes in equity for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 as a reduction of the Group’s retained earnings. 

Amount of the prepayment at 31 December 2020 and 2019 comprised: 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Long-term prepayment for own shares 5,796 5,980 
 5,796 5,980 
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7. TRANSACTIONS WITH OWN SHARES (CONTINUED) 

Transaction with EBRD 

In August 2014, the Company, OOO Irkutsk Oil Company and LLC Prior concluded a Put Option 
Agreement (further – Agreement) with EBRD, which provided for the Group’s obligation to acquire 
3.16% of the Company’s shares from EBRD as follows: ½ of the stake or 1.58% of the shares to be 
acquired in April 2018 and the remaining ½ of the stake or 1.58% of the shares – in October 2020.  

In accordance with the Agreement, on 23 April 2018 LLC Prior and EBRD concluded Share Purchase 
Agreement regarding the acquisition of 1.58% of the Company’s shares by LLC Prior. In accordance with 
the Share Purchase Agreement the consideration to be paid for 1.58% of the Company’s shares comprised 
USD 49,945 thousand. As the obligation to acquire own shares was discharged by the parent company, 
this transaction was recognized directly in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

In accordance with the Agreement, on 29 April 2020 LLC Prior and EBRD concluded Share Purchase 
Agreement regarding the acquisition of the remaining 1.58% of the Company’s shares by LLC Prior. In 
accordance with the Share Purchase Agreement the consideration to be paid for 1.58% of the JSC INK-
Capital’s shares comprised USD 50,510 thousand. Similarly, as the obligation to acquire own shares was 
discharged by the parent company, this transaction was recognized directly in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity. 

Recognition of the transactions with GSI and EBRD in the consolidated financial statements 

Resulting from the transactions, the Group has the obligation to repurchase own shares, which was 
initially recognised at fair value equal to the present value of shares repurchased. Subsequently, the 
obligation is recognised at amortised cost. 

The carrying amount of the financial liability to repurchase the Company’s shares in accordance with the 
aforementioned transactions at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is presented below: 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Long-term obligation to repurchase own shares (GSI) 9,988 8,164 
Short-term obligation to repurchase own shares (EBRD) - 3,187 
Total 9,988 11,351 

Unwinding of discount on these financial liabilities in 2020 and 2019 comprised: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Unwinding of discount (GSI) 290 265 
Unwinding of discount (ЕBRD) 188 217 
Total 478 482 

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had the following balances of own shares to be repurchased: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Own shares to be repurchased (GSI) 3,783 3,783 
Own shares to be repurchased (EBRD) - 1,759 
1 share of the Company repurchased by OOO Irkutsk Oil Company 1 1 
Total 3,784 5,543 



JOINT-STOCK COMPANY INK-CAPITAL 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

23 

7. TRANSACTIONS WITH OWN SHARES (CONTINUED) 

Measuring fair values of financial liabilities to repurchase own shares 

At the date of initial recognition, the fair values of financial liabilities to acquire own shares from GSI and 
EBRD were determined as the present value of contractual cash flows discounted at the interest rates 
attributable to financial instruments with similar credit risks and remaining maturities.  

Discount rates applied are stated below:  

Discounted contractual cash flows to acquire shares from GSI 6.88% 
Discounted contractual cash flows to acquire shares from EBRD in April 2018 (2014) 6.50% 
Discounted contractual cash flows to acquire shares from EBRD in October 2020 (2014) 7.00% 

8. INVENTORIES 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Spare parts and other materials (less impairment provision of RR’mln 224 and 
RR’mln 134 at 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively) 10,199 7,548 
Oil 1,128 957 
Gas condensate 3 1 
Total 11,330 8,506 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Trade receivables (less provision for expected credit losses of RR’mln 401 and 
RR’mln 391 as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively) 3,884 7,419 
Receivables from repurchase transactions (reverse repo) - 7,124 
Other receivables (less provision for expected credit losses of RR’mln 6 and  
RR’ mln 2 as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively) 1,325 514 
Total 5,209 15,057 
 

In January 2020, receivables from repurchase transactions were fully repaid. 

10. VAT AND OTHER TAXES RECOVERABLE 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Value added tax recoverable 2,492 1,679 
Prepaid export duties 1,591 671 
Other - 38 
Total 4,083 2,388 

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Cash on hand and in banks   
in Russian Roubles 2,403 1,466 
in foreign currency 6,405 3,163 
Term deposits and demand deposits   
in Russian Roubles 15,210 11,262 
in foreign currency 34,943 34,162 
Total 58,961 50,053 
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11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 

Term deposits are maturing within 12 months and can be called for early repayment without any 
significant losses to the Group and they are used only in the Group’s operating activity.  

The analysis of cash and cash equivalents by the bank credit quality is provided in Note 23. 

12. BORROWINGS 
  Interest rate   

 Currency 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Loans from related parties:      
Loans and borrowings with 
floating interest rate USD - 6m 

LIBOR+3.75% - 258 
Loans from third parties:      
Loans and borrowings with 
floating interest rates  RUB 75%*Key rate 

CBR 
75%*Key rate 

CBR 122 173 

Loans and borrowings with 
fixed interest rate RUB 1%-7.74% 1% 6,058 1,058 
Loans and borrowings with 
fixed interest rate USD 5% - 2,978 - 

Total borrowings    9,158 1,489 
Current portion of borrowings   96 258 
Non-current portion of borrowings   9,062 1,231 

In December 2019, the Group's subsidiary LLC INK-SERVICE entered into a number of loan agreements 
with Federal State Autonomous Institution "Russian Technological Development Fund" with a purpose of 
financing of prepayment for the industrial equipment to be leased out. In accordance with the agreements, 
the annual interest rate comprised 1% (annual effective interest rate - 7.95%). Also, in accordance with 
the loan agreements the borrowings are to be repaid during the period starting from March 2023 till 
December 2024 in accordance with the agreed repayment schedule. The carrying value of the borrowings 
as at 31 December 2020 comprised RR'mln 1,508 (31 December 2019: RR’mln 1,058). 

In April 2020, OOO Irkutsk Oil Company received borrowed funds under the Loan agreement concluded 
in 2016 from JSC Raiffeisenbank in the amount of RUB 5,000 million for the purpose of working capital 
increase and financing of capital expenditure. In accordance with this agreement, annual interest rate 
comprises 7.74%. The loan will be repaid during the period from February 2022 to December 2022. 
In November 2020, OOO Irkutsk Oil Company entered into a loan agreement with Goldman Sachs 
International Bank for the amount of USD 40 million for a period of 3 years for general corporate 
purposes. Annual interest rate comprises 5%. In accordance with the loan agreement the loan will be 
repaid in Noveber 2023. 
The undiscounted maturity profile of the Group's borrowings, including accrued interest, is as follows: 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Within 2 months 63 - 
From 3 to 6 months 136 225 
From 7 to 12 months 371 111 
Total borrowings due within 12 months 570 336 
Due within the second year 5,437 67 
From 3 to 5 years 4,140 1,151 
Total borrowings due beyond 12 months 9,577 1,218 
Total borrowings 10,147 1,554 
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12. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had the following open credit facilities: 

 
Credit 

limit 
The amount of borrowings 

undrawn at the reporting date 
At 31 December 2020   
borrowings  53,358 45,403 
At 31 December 2019   
borrowings  35,662 26,376 

Information about the Group’s collaterals for loans and borrowings is presented below: 

Security and pledges 

At 31 December 2020, the Group's borrowings were not secured by the companies of the Group. 

At 31 December 2019, the Group's borrowings were secured by: 

− pledging 25.001% interest in OOO Irkutsk Oil Company; 

− pledging property, plant and equipment with the carrying amount of RR’mln 1,158 and revenue 
under an export contract. Revenue under the export contract should cover at least 150% of the 
amounts due under the respective loan agreement. 

13. ASSET RETIREMENT AND LAND RECULTIVATION OBLIGATION  
 2020 2019 
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,971 1,416 
Provision for additional drilling of oil wells 35 204 
Change in estimates 29 262 
Unwinding of discount 75 92 
Provision utilised - (3) 
Balance at the end of the year 2,110 1,971 

Asset retirement and land recultivation obligation is an estimated cost of well abandonment and 
restoration of disturbed sites. Group management believes that a time of well abandonment and 
restoration of disturbed sites shall not come earlier than the expiry date of the underlying licence 
agreements related to fields and licence blocks.  

Key assumptions applied to estimating site restoration obligations were as follows: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Discount rate 6.36% 6.48% 
Projected inflation rates during the discount period 
(a range of values by year) 2.82% - 4.19% 2.93% - 6.12% 
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14. SHARE CAPITAL 

Total issued ordinary shares comprised of: 

Type of share 

Number of 
outstanding 

shares (in units) 

Par value of one 
share  
(RR) 

Total nominal 
value  

(RR’mln) 

Total carrying 
amount  

(RR’mln) 
Ordinary shares 30,000 1,000 30 30 
Total 30,000 1,000 30 30 

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the authorized, issued and fully paid share capital of the 
Company consisted of 30,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of RR 1,000 per share. Each ordinary 
share carries one vote.  

The share capital structure as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 was presented as follows: 

Name of the shareholder 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
LLC Prior 96.247% 94.667% 
Goldman Sachs International (GSI) 3.750% 3.750% 
European Bank of Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) - 1.580% 
OOO Irkutsk Oil Company 0.003% 0.003% 
 100% 100% 

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Trade payables 3,801 4,592 
Provision for vacation and annual bonus payments 1,325 2,428 
Trade payables for purchased property, plant and equipment 2,129 1,457 
Salaries payable  3 498 
Other 1,527 935 
Total 8,785 9,910 

The Group applies a financial risk management policy which includes budgeting and cash flow and 
payment schedule analysis to ensure that payables are settled within the established timeframe. 

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the undiscounted maturity profile of the Group's trade and other 
payables (excluding provision for vacation and annual bonus payments and salaries payable) is as 
follows:  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Overdue payables 169 385 
Less than 3 months 5,941 5,761 
From 3 to 6 months 144 101 
From 6 to 12 months 1,203 737 
Total 7,457 6,984 

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, overdue payables included payables for provision of other services and 
were mainly settled within four months after the reporting date. No interest was accrued for these 
payables and no claims were filed by suppliers. 



JOINT-STOCK COMPANY INK-CAPITAL 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
(in millions of Russian Roubles unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

27 

16. VAT AND OTHER TAXES PAYABLE 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December  

2019 
VAT 3,307 3,373 
Mineral extraction tax 2,925 4,354 
Property tax 157 276 
Other 691 320 
Total 7,080 8,323 

17. REVENUE  
 2020 2019 
Crude oil   
Domestic market 77,721 106,277 
Export 46,149 54,478 
Servicing of fields 6,324 5,169 
Gas condensate 307 542 
Other 5,866 6,062 
Total 136,367 172,528 

18. COST OF SALES 
 2020 2019 
Taxes  35,410 52,453 
Depreciation and amortisation  16,222 13,185 
Direct labour costs and related taxes 7,788 5,614 
Materials 6,756 5,284 
Wells drilling and repair services 3,694 2,652 
2D seismic survey 749 661 
Security services 715 437 
Hydrogeological survey and exploration 308 409 
Other 293 2,555 
Total 71,935 83,250 

Decrease of taxes for the year ended 31 December 2020 as compared with the year ended 31 December 
2019 is mainly explained by the decrease of mineral extraction tax charge from RR’mln 52,441 to 
RR’mln 34,674 due to oil prices reduction starting from March 2020 as well as due to decrease of oil 
production volumes. 

Direct labour costs and related taxes for the year 2020 include contributions to Pension Fund of the 
Russian Federation in the amount of RR’mln 785 (2019: RR’mln 547).  

19. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 2020 2019 
Oil transportation services 14,096 14,794 
Direct labour costs and related taxes 6,211 5,873 
Administrative overheads 2,383 2,196 
Total 22,690 22,863 
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20. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 

 2020 2019 
Interest income 1,196 2,155 
Effect of change in estimates related to obligation to repurchase own shares 
(EBRD) 292 227 
Finance income 1,488 2,382 
Unwinding of discount on obligation to repurchase own shares (Note 7) (478) (482) 
Other (123) (92) 
Finance expense (601) (574) 

21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

In 2020 OOO Irkutsk Oil Company (a subsidiary of the Company) applied a beneficial tax rate on income 
taxes payable to the budget of the Irkutsk Region (Note 25). In accordance with the regional legislation, 
the benefit is available to entities involved in oil and gas production, if the following conditions are met: 

− according to the special investment contract the amount of investments in the tax period preceding 
the current tax period should be over 4 billion roubles; 

− additions to property, plant and equipment should exceed 25% of the total net book value of 
property, plant and equipment as at 31 December of the report tax period provided that the ratio of 
the calculated income tax base of the report period to the calculated income tax base of the base 
period exceeds the coefficient, determined by the relevant regional legislation. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities may be netted only if the law allows to net current income tax 
assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities related to operations of one and the same 
legal entity and if they are to be paid (reimbursed) to one and the same tax authority. Key changes are 
listed below: 

 
31 December 31 December 

2020 2019 
Deferred tax assets recoverable within twelve months after the reporting date 925 159 
Total deferred income tax assets 925 159 
Deferred tax liabilities payable after more than twelve months after 
the reporting date (7,754) (6,696) 
Deferred tax liabilities payable within twelve months after 
the reporting date (103) (163) 
Total deferred income tax liabilities (7,857) (6,859) 
Total net deferred income tax liabilities (6,932) (6,700) 

Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2020 (offset 
of balances within a subsidiary is not considered): 

 
31 December 

2020 

(Charged)/  
credited to 

profit or loss 
31 December  

2019 
Tax effects of taxable temporary differences:    
Property, plant and equipment (7,060) (653) (6,407) 
Exploration and evaluation assets (103) 60 (163) 
Other (694) (405) (289) 
Tax effects of deductible temporary differences:    
Other 925 766 159 
Total net deferred income tax liabilities (6,932) (232) (6,700) 
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21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 

Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2019 (offset 
of balances within a subsidiary is not considered): 

 
31 December 

2019 

(Charged)/  
credited to 

profit or loss 
31 December  

2018 
Tax effects of taxable temporary differences:    
Property, plant and equipment (6,407) (1,314) (5,093) 
Exploration and evaluation assets (163) (31) (132) 
Other (289) (90) (199) 
Tax effects of deductible temporary differences:    
Other 159 18 141 
Total net deferred income tax liabilities (6,700) (1,417) (5,283) 

Differences between recognition criteria for assets and liabilities recorded in consolidated financial 
statements prepared under IFRS and those prepared for Russian statutory taxation purposes give rise to 
certain temporary differences between the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and their tax bases. The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is 
recorded at the statutory tax rate. Deferred income tax liabilities arise mainly due to the differences 
between the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment for financial reporting purposes and their 
tax bases. 

Temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities 
amounted to RR’mln 4,346 and RR’mln 5,896 at 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively. The deferred 
tax liabilities in respect of these temporary differences were not recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and 
does not intend to reverse them in the foreseeable future. 

The Group's income tax expense is different from the theoretical tax charge, which the Group would have 
had, if it had used the weighted average tax rate applicable to the profit of the Group; the reconciliation is 
presented below: 

 2020 2019 
Profit before income tax  65,302 84 841 
Theoretical tax charge at the statutory rate (20% for the years 
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019) 13,060 16,968 
Investments tax credits (2,223) (2,460) 
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes    
- share in the profit of the jointly controlled entities (3,029) (4,468) 
- obligation to repurchase own equity instruments 96 96 
- other  1,022 442 
Income tax expense 8,926 10,578 
 

 2020 2019 
Current income tax:   
Current income tax expense for the year 8,694 9,161 
Total current income tax 8,694 9,161 
Deferred income tax:   
Recognised temporary differences 232 1,417 
Total deferred income tax 232 1,417 
Income tax expense 8,926 10,578 
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are generally considered to be related 
if the parties are under common control or if one party has the ability to control the other party or can 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operational decisions. In 
considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, not merely the legal form.  

The nature of the relationship with those related parties, which were involved in significant transactions 
and had significant balances on transactions with the Group at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is disclosed 
below: 

Subsidiaries of the Group 

  Ownership interest (%) 

Entity Nature of business 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
LLC Irkutsk Oil Company Owner of licences, operational unit of Group 99.94% 99.94% 
LLC BEKoil-Irigma Lumbering 99% 99% 
LLC INK-SERVICE Drilling 99% 99% 
LLC INK-TKRS Fields services 99.51% 99.51% 
LLC Irkutsk Polymer Plant  Manufacture of plastics and synthetic resins 100% 100% 
LLC Ust-Kutsky GPP  Gas and chemical production 100% 100% 

LLC INK-NGG 
Exploration and development of the 
Ayanskoye field and the Ayansky licence 
block 

75% 75% 

LLC ToT Exploration and development of the Ayansky 
(Western) license block 75% 75% 

LLC LLC INK- StrojNefteGaz Providing services in the area of oil and gas 
development, construction works 100% 100% 

All subsidiaries of the Group are registered and operating on the territory of the Russian Federation. 

a) Dividends 

During 2020, the Group declared dividends to its participants in the amount of RR’mln 7,155 (with 
consideration of dividends attributable to GSI in the amount of RR’mln 236), including the amount 
RR’mln 155 attributable to non-controlling equity holders (in 2019: RR’mln 13,104, including the 
amount RR’mln 60 attributable to non-controlling equity holders). The total amount of dividends paid 
was RR’mln 7,158 which included the amount of dividends payable at the beginning of the year. As at 31 
December 2020, the Group did not have any dividends payable to its participants 

b) Significant transactions with EBRD 

In 2020, the EBRD withdrew from the shareholders of JSC INK-Capital (see Note 7) and, accordingly, a 
member of the Company’s Board of Directors representing EBRD left the Board of Directors in May 
2020. 

At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Group’s balances with EBRD were as follows: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings  - 258 
Obligation to repurchase own shares (Note 7) - 3,187 
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

In 2020 and 2019 the Group had the following transactions with EBRD: 

 2020 2019 
Capitalised borrowing costs  1 32 
Unwinding of discount on obligation to repurchase own shares (68) (217) 
Effect of change in estimates related to obligation to repurchase own shares 256 227 

More detailed information about borrowings and obligation to repurchase own shares is presented in 
Notes 12 and 7 respectively.  

c) Significant transactions with jointly controlled entities 

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Group’s balances with jointly controlled entities were as follows: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Dividends receivable from JSC INK-Zapad 212 - 
Trade and other receivables 1,047 1,346 
Trade and other payables 396 231 

In 2020 and 2019 the Group had the following transactions with jointly controlled entities: 

 2020 2019 
Sales of materials goods and services 4,311 4,339 
Drilling and servicing of fields 3,761 3,500 

d) Key management compensation 

The Company’s Board of Directors includes five members. Four members of the Board of Directors 
receive compensation on a quarterly basis in accordance with the Group’s policy on remuneration and 
compensations to the Board of Directors members approved by the Company's shareholders. The 
compensation amounted to RR’mln 26 and RR’mln 25 in 2020 and 2019 respectively. 

Key management of the Group includes Nikolay Buynov, Chairman of the Board of Directors, and 
Marina Sedykh, General Director of the Company. The Group paid to its key management personnel 
short-term compensation, including salary and bonuses, in the amount of RR 108 million and RR 35 
million for 2020 and 2019, respectively. Such amounts include personal income tax and are net of 
contributions to Pension Fund of the Russian Federation. 

23. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT  

Financial risk management objectives and policies.  

The risk management function within the Group is carried out in respect of financial risks operational 
risks and legal risks. Financial risk comprises market risk (other price risk) credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The primary objective of the financial risk management function is to establish risk limits and then ensure 
that exposure to risks stays within these limits. The operational and legal risk management functions are 
intended to ensure proper functioning of internal policies and procedures in order to minimise operational 
and legal risks. 

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
the Group’s activities. 
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23. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

The Group’s operating activities expose it to the following financial risks:  

− market risk including currency risk interest rate risk and price risk; 

− credit risk; 

− liquidity risk. 
Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates interest rates 
commodity prices and equity prices will affect the Group’s financial results or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The primary objective of mitigating the market risk is to ensure management and 
control of market risk exposures while optimising the returns and risk balance. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the financial results of the Group will be adversely impacted by changes in 
exchange rates to which the Group is exposed. The Group performs certain transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date were as follows: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 
Financial 

assets 
Financial 
liabilities 

Net balance 
sheet 

position 
Financial 

assets 
Financial 
liabilities 

Net balance 
sheet 

position 
Russian Roubles 20,453 (10,332) 10,121 22,293 (6,291) 16,002 
USD-denominated 49,875 (14,439) 35,436 48,745 (12,587) 36,158 
CNY-denominated 1 - 1 72 - 72 
JPY-denominated - (9) (9) - - - 
EURO-denominated 69 (256) (227) - (147) (147) 
Total 70,398 (25,076) 45,322 71,110 (19,025) 52,085 

Currency risk sensitivity analysis 

Russian rouble weakening by 30% against US Dollar results in increase of profit for 2020 by RR’mln 
8,983 (increase of profit for 2019 by RR’mln 9,166) while Russian rouble strengthening by 30% against 
US Dollar results in decrease of profit for the year in equal amount.  

Interest rate risk 

The Group is not significantly exposed to interest rate risk since most of its borrowings were obtained at 
fixed interest rates (Note 12).  

Price risk 

The Group's financial results directly depend on the oil and oil products price level. The Group is unable 
to fully control prices of its products as they depend on the fluctuations in the balance of demand and 
supply at the domestic and global oil and oil products markets and actions of controlling agencies. 

The Group has an operational business planning system based on the scenario approach: key performance 
indicators (KPIs) of the Group depend on the oil price level in the world market. This approach allows 
reducing costs including through cuts and carry forwards in investment programs and use of other 
mechanisms. These steps allow reducing the risk to an acceptable level.  
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23. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the buyer or the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss 
for the other party by failing to fulfil an obligation. 

Exposure to credit risk mainly arises on the Group’s balances of cash and cash equivalents and trade and 
other receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are only held in the banks which the Group management believes to have a 
minimum risk of default at the time of deposit. At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Group was not 
exposed to an elevated credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents.  

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents equals to the 
carrying amounts of the respective financial assets (Note 11). The credit quality of cash and cash 
equivalents may be assessed based on the credit ratings assigned by independent agencies. The following 
table presents an analysis of the credit quality of cash financial assets based on the data of international 
rating agencies. Fitch classification of ratings was notionally used for the purposes of this analysis. 

 BBB BBB- BB BB- Total 

At 31 December 2020  
  

  
Cash and cash equivalents 18,561 38,155 - 2,245 58,961 
At 31 December 2019      
Cash and cash equivalents 21,769 25,133 3,150 1 50,053 

Trade and other receivables 

The Group assesses the credit quality of any customer taking into account its financial position past 
experience and other factors. At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Group had no increased credit risks 
associated with the receivables.  

Although collectability of receivables can be influenced by economic factors management believes that 
there is no significant risk of loss to the Group beyond the expected credit loss provision of receivables 
already recorded. At 31 December 2020 and 2019 the Group had no past due trade receivables in excess 
of the recorded provision.  

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to receivables equals to the carrying amounts of 
the respective financial assets (Note 9).  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial liabilities with 
settlement in cash or other financial asset. The liquidity position is thoroughly monitored and managed by 
the Group's management. In order to manage the liquidity risk the Group maintains adequate cash 
balances and both open and standby credit lines and continuously monitors forecast and actual cash flows. 

The maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities at 31 December 2020 and 2019 based on 
contractual payments is presented in Notes 12 and 15.  
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23. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Management of capital 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders return capital to shareholders issue 
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.  

Group’s capital consists of share and additional capital retained earnings own shares to repurchase and 
other reserves as part of “Equity” section of the consolidated statement of financial position. The amount 
of capital under the Group’s management at 31 December 2020 was RR’mln 350,738  
(at 31 December 2019: RR’mln 299 942). 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties in an arm’s length transaction in the organised market at the measurement date. 
The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined by the Group using available market 
information and appropriate valuation techniques. However management’s judgement is necessarily 
required to interpret market data for determining fair value of financial instruments.  

Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of financial 
instruments. 

The different levels of fair value have been defined as follows: 

(i) Measurements at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
(Level 1);  

(ii) Measurements obtained through the use of valuation techniques with all material inputs observable 
for the asset or liability either directly (that is as prices) or indirectly (that is derived from prices) 
(Level 2);  

(iii) Measurements obtained through valuations that are not based on observable market data (that is 
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).  

Management uses professional judgement for estimation of fair value and classification of financial 
instuments by categories with the use of fair value hierarchy as described above. 

Financial assets recognised at amortised cost. The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and 
prepayment for own equity instruments approximated their fair values at the reporting date. Fair values of 
trade and other receivables are classified within level 3 of fair value hierarchy.  

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits are carried at amortized cost which approximates their fair 
value.  

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost. Estimated fair values of loans and borrowings, obligation 
to repurchase own equity instruments, trade and other payables (Level 3 in the fair value measurement 
hierarchy) were not substantially different from their carrying amounts as the terms underlying the 
respective loans and borrowings at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were compliant with the arm’s length 
principle at the reporting dates.  

In 2020 and 2019 there were no reclassifications of assets and liabilities between fair value hierarchy 
levels. 
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
Assets carried at amortised cost   
Cash and cash equivalents 58,961 50,053 
Long-term prepayments for own shares 5,209 15,057 
Trade and other receivables  5,796 5,980 
Load issued 432 - 
Total 70,398 70,090 
Assets carried at fair value through profit and loss   
Derivative financial assets - 20 
Total - 20 
 
 
 

31 December  
2020 

31 December  
2019 

Liabilities carried at amortised cost   
Long-term borrowings  9,070 1,231 
Long-term obligation to repurchase own shares 9,988 8,164 
Short-term obligation to repurchase own shares - 3,187 
Short-term borrowings  88 258 
Trade and other payables  5,930 6,049 
Total 25,076 18,889 
Liabilities carried at fair value through profit and loss   
Derivative financial liabilities - 136 
Total - 136 

25. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  

Operating environment. The Russian Federation displays certain characteristics of an emerging market. 
Its economy is particularly sensitive to oil and gas prices. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks 
continue to develop and are subject to frequent changes and varying interpretations. The Russian 
economy continues to be negatively impacted by ongoing political tension in the region and international 
sanctions against certain Russian companies and individuals.  

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a global 
pandemic. In response to the pandemic, the Russian authorities implemented numerous measures 
attempting to contain the spreading and impact of COVID-19, such as travel bans and restrictions, 
quarantines, shelter-in-place orders and limitations on business activity, including closures. These 
measures have, among other things, severely restricted economic activity in Russia and have negatively 
impacted, and could continue to negatively impact businesses, market participants, clients of the Group, 
as well as the Russian and global economy for an unknown period of time. Furthermore, decrease of the 
demand for oil and oil prices as well as decrease in oil production as s consequence of OPEC+ deal 
arrangements, might have a significant negative impact on the Global economy, including the economy of 
the Russian Federation. The operating environment has a significant impact on the Group’s operations 
and financial position. 

Legal proceedings. During the reporting period the Group was engaged (both as a plaintiff and a 
defendant) in a number of court proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of 
management, there are no current legal proceedings or other claims outstanding which could have a 
material negative impact on the result of operations or financial position of the Group and which have not 
been accrued or disclosed in these consolidated financial statements. 
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25. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Taxation. Russian tax legislation which was enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, is subject to varying interpretations when being applied to the transactions and activities of the 
Group. Consequently, tax positions taken by management and the formal documentation supporting the 
tax positions may be challenged by tax authorities. Russian tax administration is gradually strengthening, 
including the fact that there is a higher risk of review of tax transactions without a clear business purpose 
or with tax incompliant counterparties. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect 
of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year when decisions about the review were made. Under 
certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. 

Russian transfer pricing (TP) legislation is generally aligned with the international TP principles 
developed by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), although it has 
specific features.  

The TP legislation provides for the possibility of additional tax assessment for controlled transactions 
(transactions between related parties and certain transactions between unrelated parties) if such 
transactions are not on an arm’s-length basis. The Management has implemented internal controls to 
comply with current TP legislation. 

Tax liabilities arising from controlled transactions are determined based on their actual transaction prices. 
It is possible, with the evolution of the interpretation of TP rules, that such prices could be challenged. 
The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be significant to the 
financial position and/or the Group's operations. 

As Russian tax legislation does not provide definitive guidance in certain areas, the Group adopts, from time to 
time, interpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall tax rate of the Group. While management 
currently estimates that the tax positions and interpretations that it has taken can probably be sustained, there is 
a possible risk that an outflow of resources will be required should such tax positions and interpretations be 
challenged by the tax authorities. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it 
may be significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group. 

In accordance with the law, a reduced income tax rate is available to entities that are registered and 
operate in the Irkutsk Region. OOO INK (subsidiary of the Company) paid income taxes to the Irkutsk 
Region budget at a rate of 12.5% (2019: 12.5%). In 2020, the Group saved RR’mln 2,223 (2019: RR’mln 
2,460) due to this fact. 

In both 2020 and 2019, the Group applied the declarative approach to export VAT. In 2020, the Group 
recovered VAT in the amount of RR’mln 301 (2019: RR’mln 380). 

Environmental matters. The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is 
evolving and the enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The 
Group periodically evaluates its obligations under environmental regulations. As obligations are 
determined, they are recognised immediately. Potential liabilities, which might arise as a result of changes 
in existing regulations, civil litigation or legislation, cannot be estimated but could be material. In the 
current enforcement climate under existing legislation, management believes that there are no potential 
liabilities for environmental damage. 

The Group has undertaken to do everything necessary to ensure compliance of its operations with strict 
environmental protection requirements of EBRD and the global best practice. For these purposes the 
Group engaged a global consultant on environmental matters. Currently the Group applies formal written 
policy in the area of environmental protection, which includes standard procedures regulating 
environmental effect. In 2013, the Group implemented internationally recognized environmental action 
management system and passed certification under ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001. In 2020, the Group 
successfully passed an ISO inspection audit for compliance with ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001. 
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25. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Other. In 2020, the President of Russian Federation signed the excess profit tax reform act (EPT) 
affecting oil industry starting from 2021, in accordance with which starting from 1 January 2021 some of 
relieves related to MET and export duties will be cancelled with simultaneous revision of EPT certain 
parameters. Management expects that the above mentioned changes in legislation will lead to increase of 
Group’s tax burden in the future. 

Capital expenditure commitments. At 31 December 2020, the Group has contractual capital expenditure 
commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment totalling RR’mln 143,446 (at 31 December 
2019: RR’mln 103,204).  

The Group has already allocated the necessary resources in respect of these commitments. The Group 
believes that future net income and funding will be sufficient to cover these and any similar 
commitments. 

26. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

In April 2021, the Extraordinary Annual General Meeting of Shareholders declared dividends to the 
shareholders of the Company in the amount of RR’mln 7,496. 

27. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 or later, and which the Group has not early adopted. The following 
new pronouncements are not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements when adopted: 

− Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by the IASB).  

− IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2023). 

− Amendments to IFRS 17 and an amendment to IFRS 4 (issued on 25 June 2020 and effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

− Classification of liabilities as current or non-current – Amendments to IAS 1 (issued on 
23 January 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 

− Classification of liabilities as current or non-current, deferral of effective date – Amendments to 
IAS 1 (issued on 15 July 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023).  

− Proceeds before intended use, Onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract, Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework – narrow scope amendments to IAS 16, IAS 37 and IFRS 3, and Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 – amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 (issued 
on 14 May 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 

− Interest rate benchmark (IBOR) reform – phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 
and IFRS 16 (issued on 27 August 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2021).  
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28. ADDITIONAL NOTE ON OIL AND GAS RESERVES (UNAUDITED)

This section includes supplementary information on the Group's oil and gas operations. The information 
presented below is prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, an independent engineering firm, in respect 
of the Group's proved reserves of oil at 31.12.2019 and 31.12.2018. The definitions are in line with the 
ones used by PRMS. 

Management believes that the Group's proved reserves should also include those resources which may be 
extracted during the period after the expiration of existing licences for the relevant oil properties. The 
table below presents the expiry dates for the licences owned by the Group and its joint entities at present: 

Name of licence block 
Year of licence 

expiry 
Yaraktinsky field 2033 
Markovsky field 2033 
Northern-Mogdinsky licence block 2032 
Danilovsky licence block  2033 
Western-Yaraktinsky licence block  2031 
Bolshetirsky licence block 2031 
Aynsky field 2031 
Aynsky licence block 2031 
Potapovsky territory 2031 
Byuksky licence block 2037 
Suntarsky licence block 2023 
Yuzhno-Dzunkunsky licence block 2036 
Aynsky (Western) licence block 2034 
Yalyksky licence block 2037 
Srednenepsky licence block 2036 
Verkhne-Dzunkunsky licence block 2023 
Kiysky licence block 2038 
Iktehsky licence block 2038 
Verhnetirsky licence block 2040 
Verhnenepsky licence block 2040 
Verhnenepsky (Northern) licence block 2043 
Khamakarsky licence block 2044 
Slovutinsky licence block 2024 
Ilgychakhsky licence block 2037 
Argishsky licence block 2023 
Kimchukansky licence block 2021 
Laushkardinsky licence block 2025 
Mundukshinsky licence block 2028 
Mutoraysky licence block 2023 
Nizhnemadashensky licence block 2023 
Paimbinsky licence block 2021 
Tamyshsky licence block 2025 
Yurachensky licence block 2028 
Yangotoysky licence block 2021 
Nizhneengidinsky licence block 2045 
Chunkunskiy licence block 2045 
Verkhnekatangskiy licence block 2025 
Western-Ust-Kutskii licence block 2046 
Chitorminskii licence block 2046 
Belyakskii licence block 2046 
Madashenskii licence block 2046 
Muntulskii licence block 2046 
Eastern-Chadobetskii licence block 2046 
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28. ADDITIONAL NOTE ON OIL AND GAS RESERVES (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

Name of licence block 
Year of licence 

expiry  
Ischukhskii licence block 2046 
Punskii licence block 2047 
Western-Chadobetskii licence block 2047 

Management believes that the licences will be extended at the Group's initiative. Management plans to 
extend the licences for exploration and development for such licence areas where production can be 
continued after the expiry of the licence term. 

Proved reserves are those reserves of the existing fields production of which can be commercially viable 
given the economic, operational and political factors remain unchanged. 

Due to inherent uncertainties of the fields related data, the assessment of reserves implies some 
inaccuracy and can be changed over time new additional information appears about the fields, new 
technologies evolve or economic situation changes in the future. 

Probable reserves are those unproved reserves that are more likely to be extracted than unextracted, based 
on geological and technical information. Thus, based on the probability method, there is at least 50% 
probability that the extracted reserves will be equal to or larger than proved reserves and probable 
reserves taken together. 

Crude oil Condensate 
thousand metric tonnes thousand metric tonnes 
31.12.2019 31.12.2018 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 

Proved developed reserves 35,009 30,286 2,854 2,128 
Proved undeveloped reserves 38,577 10,651 5,341 3,590 
Total proved reserves 73,586 40,937 8,195 5,718 
Probable reserves 62,742 29,282 7,621 4,139 
Total proved and probable reserves at the end 
of the year 136,328 70,219 15,816 9,857 

Head office address: 
JSC INK-Capital 

4, Bolshoy Liteinyi Prospekt,  

Irkutsk, 664007, 

Russian Federation 

Telephone/fax: +7 (3952) 211-352/+7 (3952) 211-353 

Web-site:  

www.irkutskoil.ru (in Russian) 

www.irkutskoil.com (in English) 
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